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Introduction  
 
There were plenty of times I would spend in conversation with my Aunty Joan and the 
conversation – as frequently did with her – moved to the military service of the men 
within our family. She was always interested to understand just what each one of us 
sailors and soldiers got up to and was ready to offer what she knew about each of us. 

 
It was during one of these conversations I said I would like to look into the service 
record of my Granddad - George William Schofield - her father. At the time all I know 
about him was he was a lovely man who smelt of woodbine cigarettes! Remember, I 
was only 5 years old when we lost him, and so my memories of him are quite vague. 

 
But I do remember my dad, Billy Schofield, talking about Granddad frequently, and 
how he was a soldier in the World War One (or ‘The Great War’ – as it was called 
when I was 5). Dad told me George was wounded but didn’t tell me much more, but 
he had kept his medals, although they were in a sorry state. 

 
Anyway Aunty Joan told me all she knew about George that afternoon and dug out 
what little she had of his records, which turned out to be his discharge papers. She 
confirmed he had been wounded – she thought in the right upper arm or shoulder 
during WW1 but didn’t know any more about the wound. 

 
She also told me a remarkable story about how he came to be in India. According to 
family folklore, he was part of the band seeing the 'Glosters' off to India at the docks 
and that the regiment was one body short. The army being the army, must have 
numbers right, so my granddad was dragged out of the band and sent to India 
without any kit! 

 
Well, I’m sorry to dispel family folklore – but on this occasion what was all it was! As 
we shall see George did in fact go to India – but as a member of the East Surry 
Regiment, transferring to the ‘Glosters’ later. 

 
During my research I have visited a few places and gathered lots of information. This I 
have tried to represent in a truthful and easy to read manner. I welcome any additions 
members of the family may have to enrich this record of George’s military live and 
value critique of this account. 

 
The journey has been rewarding and very interesting for me, an ex-soldier. Before I 
undertook this research I laboured under the illusion that I had it hard in the army and 
(like most) saw my fair share of action, but the suffering and pain the soldiers of The 
Great War experienced makes me realise that my army service was a walk in the park. 

 
How George made it through to live out his life our in peace and harmony is a 
mystery which I shall try to unravel.
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Potted history of George’s Military live  
 
At the age of 19 years, George William Schofield enlisted in the East Surry Regiment 
on the 6th November 1906 in Kingston as a regular, professional soldier on what was 
then called a ‘Short Service Enlistment’. 

 
After taking ‘The King’s Shilling’ he was sent directly to the Regimental depot in 
Bristol for his Basic Training. Here he would have been taught the basic skills any 
soldier needs – drill, physical fitness, discipline, how to shoot a rifle, etc. All those 
who have served will understand this – in itself Basic Training is a difficult transition 
and  can’t  be  completed quickly enough! At  the  turn  of  the  last  century it  was 
particularly hard, with the sergeants being particular bullies. 

 
His Service record tells us after basic training, on 17th April 1908, he was posted to 
the 2nd Brigade East Surry Regiment, a combatant unit, who were at the time serving 
in Lucknow, India. 

 
We do not know why, but on the 1st Jan 1909 he was transferred into the 1st Battalion 
Gloucestershire Regiment, where his service was extended to 12 years ‘with the 
colours’ From his army records we see this was 7 years as a ‘regular soldier’ and 5 
years ‘on reserve’ – that is to say a civilian – but on recall - should the need arise. 
(As things turned out he was not able to leave the ‘regular army’ for some 12 years 
and 135 days – due The Great War getting in the way!) 

 
 
 
 

There are a number of reasons for the 
transfer to the ‘Glosters’. Possibly he 
wanted to stay in the Army, and/or he 
simply wanted to become a Drummer in 
the regimental Band, and chances are 
there were no opportunities for this in the 
East Surreys. What ever the reason he 
transferred and became a drummer a 
short while after. 

 
George remained with the 1st Battalion 
Gloucestershire Regiment, as a drummer 
until the outbreak of the Great War. 

 
 
 
 
 
George in the uniform of a drummer,  
1910 (courtesy of my cousin, Michael)  

The battalion (together with George) 
returned to the depot in Bristol in 
November 1910 where they enjoyed a 
period of rest and re-training.
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1st Battalion Gloucester regimental band c1910 – courte sy of my 
cousin, Michael  

 
As things hotted up in Europe the battalion training would have intensified and as it 
turned out they were sent to war on the 14th  August 1914. The battalion sailed to 
France on the Gloucester Castle that night, arriving in Rouen a few days later. 

 
George was now in the thick of it for the next 40 days. During that period the British 
Expeditionary Force (The ‘Old Contemptables’) chased and were chased back by the 
Germans over some 300 Kms. – then after a bloody battle with the Germans during 
the night of 14th -  15th Sept 1914 at The 1st Battle of the Aisne, George took a bullet 
and was medically evacuated from the fighting. Some might say that bullet saved his 
live – I certainly think so - as, within days he was back in Blighty – in the General 
Hospital at Bristol, where he received medical help for his wounds. These wounds kept 
him out of action until July 1917 when he was returned to the front. Thus he missed 
the horrific battles of the Somme and others. 

 
During my research I visited the national archives – where I copied most of his Army 
Records. A vast number of service records were lost in fires after bombing in the 
Second World War but George’s – whilst fire damaged – were just about legible. 
From these records I gathered most of his story, but there were no medical records. 
So I visited the General Hospital in Bristol were George was sent, and stood in the 
very ward he was in. But I was – at first – unable to gain access to his records as 
they were not yet 100 years old. So I wrote to the government and obtained a special 
dispensation to view his records. Imagine how disappointed I was to find, on opening 
up the hospital records for that period, to find all the military patients’ records had been 
returned to the War Office. These – I later found out - were lost in the WW2 fires.
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But there is good evidence to support Aunty Joan’s view that his wounds were to the 
right upper arm/shoulder as we have some photographs of him in the hospital during 
– what must have been – some important visit or occasion. 

 
If we have identified George correctly he is the fourth man in on the left-hand side in 
this picture ………. 

 

 
 

 
 

And the 1st from the left hand side nurse in this one ………. 
 

 
 
 
 
Of course this is pure supposition, but it would support Aunty Joan’s view.
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Anyway, George was being medically treated and on convalescence until July 1917, 
when he was deemed fit for action, promoted to lance corporal and returned to the 
battle ground. 

 
Unfortunately for George, he was not posted back to his beloved 1st Battalion, but to 
the 13th – which at the time was a Pioneer battalion. If these were the same in 1917 
as they were some 50 years later, George would not wish to remain with them for long, 
as they were general dogsbodies – digging ditches and latrines etc. I think this must 
have been the case, as within a few weeks he got himself transferred to the 8th 

Battalion – a true combat outfit. 
 
This, as we now know, was just in time for one of the biggest and bloodiest battles of 
the Great War – Passchendaele – or the Third Battle of the Ypres (pronounced ‘Ep’). 
Without doubt – and subject only to the miseries of the Somme - Passchendaele was 
the worse, hideous, nastiest battle of the Great War. Some 600,000 soles were lost – 
roughly split evenly between the Allies and the Germans. 

 
Just how George managed it without a scratch is amazing. I have my own theory. 

 
In any battle you try to kill the officers and senior NCOs first. This makes good sense 
– for it leaves your opposition leaderless and thus easier to defeat. During WW1 a 
person’s rank was worn very distinctly on their uniform (unlike today – were our 
troops take off their badges of rank before going into battle). This lead to a very short 
live expectancy, for instance - a young officer was about 2 weeks, with senior NCOs 
little better. 

 
George – whilst having an unblemished service record (his records show us he was 
graded ‘Exemplary’ - Army code for never being placed on a charge) was discharged 
in 1920 with the rank of Lance Corporal. I believe he must have actively rejected 
promotion, and thus this action on his part may have contributed towards saving his 
life. Supposition, I know, but feasible. 

 
After  the  Second  battle  of  Passchendaele George  contracted  scabies  and  was 
hospitalised for 5 days – but he did at least receive 14 days UK leave. Upon his 
return the final big push started with The Battle of Aisne. 

 
The 11th  hour of 11th  November peace was declared and George – together with 
many other soldiers was spared further bloodshed. 

 
He returned to the regimental depot in Bristol in 5th  Feb 1919, after having spent a 
valuable couple of weeks at home with his family, and was demobilised and placed 
on the reserve list on the 21st Mar 1919 

 
Finally of the 31st Mar 1920 he was released from his reserve commitments. 

 
George William Schofield lived on in peace and harmony until 28th January 1953, 
when he passed away peacefully at his home in Laleham with most of his family by 
his side.
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Military Awards  
 
In recognition of his military service George was received a number of awards:- 

 
1). Two ‘Action Chevrons’ - 

 
 
 

Firstly soldiers of the Great war received  one 
‘Action  Chevron’ for  each  year  (or  part)  in 
combat, as worn on the right arm (like a good 
conduct stripe of today) Soldiers who fought 
in the first few months of the first year – August  
–  November  1914  were  granted  a Red  
coloured  chevron  and  all  other  years were 
Blue. 

 
George was awarded one Red and one Blue 
Action Chevron. 

 
 
 
2). One ‘Wound Stripe’ 

 
For the wound he sustained on the night 
of 14/15th August 1914, George was 
awarded one ‘Wound Stripe’ a brass 
stripe worn on the left arm. The wound 
stripe was made of brass & issued (much 
like many brass arm badges of the time) 
with a brass back plate to go under the 
cloth. It was worn vertically & centrally on 
the lower left arm (below any other 
badges). 

 
 
 
 
3). George’s medals consist of :- 

 
•   The 1914 Star, bar and rose;  
•   British War Medal 1914-20;  
•   Victory Medal 1914-19.



 

 

 The 1914 Star , 
 
Instituted in April 1917, to be awarded to those who served in France or 
Belgium on the strength of a unit, or service in either of those two 
countries between 5 August 1914 and midnight on 22/23 November 
1914. The medal was issued named, with the recipient's details 
impressed on the star's reverse. All recipients of this medal also 
received the British War Medal and Victory Medal. 

 
In October 1919, King George V sanctioned the award of a bar and 
rose to this medal. These was awarded to holders of this medal who 
had been under fire in either France or Belgium during the period 
covered by the above dates. 

 
A total of 378,000 1914 Stars were awarded, but the number of these 
medals issued with the bar& rose is not known. 

 Br itish War Medal 1914-20 
 
This medal commemorates some of the bloodiest battles that have ever 
been fought by British & Commonwealth troops. The medal was 
instituted by King George V in 1919 to mark the end of the First World 
War and record the service given. Although the First World War ended 
in 1918, the qualification period was extended to cover post-war mine 
clearance and service in Russia during 1919-20. 

 
A total of approximately 6,500,000 silver medals were issued. A total of 
approximately 110,000 bronze versions of this medal were issued to 
Chinese, Maltese, Indian and other native Labour Corps and also to 
other native personnel who were mobilised for war service and received 
pay at military rates. 

 Vic tory Medal 1914-19 
 
This medal was instituted in 1919 to commemorate the victory of the 
Allies over the Central Powers. It was resolved that each of the Allies 
should issue a Victory Medal to their own nationals. Al the issues would 
have the common obverse of a picture of Victory. 

 
Approximately 5,725,000 British Victory medals were issued. 
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George’s own medals are safely preserved within the family, and this year I had them 
restored. Here is a photograph of them take just after restoration. I wear them on all 
parades I attend with pride… 
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Known Information relating to George William Schofi eld 
East Surry and Gloucestershire Regiments  

 
 
 
Name                                           SCHOFIELD George William 

 
D.O.B.                                          15th October 1885 

 
Date of Enlistment                       6th November 1906 

 
Place of Enlistment                      Kingston – on – Thames 

 
Regimental Numbers                   9100 when in East Surrey Regiment 

9176 when transferred to Ist Battalion 
Gloucestershire Regiment 

 
Date transferred to Reserve        21st March 1919 

 
Time in Colours                           12 years 135 Days 

Time in Reserve                          1 year 10 Days 

Discharge Date                            31st March 1920 

Medals                                         1914 Star, Clasp & Roses 
British War Medal 1914 – 1919 
Victory Medal 

 
Other Awards                               One Wound Stripe 

One Red Chevron 
One Blue Chevron 

 
Rank on transfer to reserve         Lance Corporal 

 
Conduct during Service               Exemplary 

 
Any personal details                    Height                                5’ 3” 

Complexion                       Fresh 
Eyes                                  Blue 
Hair                                   Dark 
Visible distinguishing marks 

Mole on right breast 
 
Any other information                  Bandsman (Drummer?) Mons Star details shows 

‘9176 DMR G.W. SCHOFIELD. 1/GLOUC:R’
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Chronological Events  
 

Date 
7th Nov 

Event  
Short Service Enlistment in East 

Location  
Kingston – on 

Reference  
Attestation 

1906 
21st Feb 

Surry Regiment 
Posted to 1st Battalion East Surry 

– Thames 
Depot 

papers 
Service 

1907 Regiment  Records 
17th                Posted to 2nd Battalion East Surry        Lucknow,            Service 
April Regiment India. Records/ 
1908   Regimental 
 

1st Jan 
 

Transferred to 1st Battalion 
 

India 
History 
Service 

1909 Gloucestershire Regiment, and  Records 
 extended Service to complete 12   
 years with the colours   

15th                Passed 3rd Class Certificate of              India                    Service 
April Education  Records 
1909 
1st Jan 

 
Appointed Drummer 

 
India 

 
Service 

1910   Records 
25th

 Posted to Battalion Depot Bristol Service 
Nov.   Records 
1910 
5th Aug - 

 
Leave 

 
Laleham 

 
Service 

12th Aug   Records 
1914    

13th
 Embarked on the SS Gloucester to Le Harve Service 

August the Western Front  Records 
1914 
26th Aug 

 
First action for the Regiment at the 

 
Western Front 

 
War Diaries 

– 7th
 Battle of Mons   

Sept    

1914 
7th – 
10th

 

Sept. 
1914 
12th – 
15th

 

Sept. 
1914 
14th - 
15th

 

Sept 
1914 
21st

 

Sept. 
1914 

 
The Battle of Marne                               Western Front    War Diaries 
 
 
 
 

The 1st Battle of the Aisne                     Western Front    War Diaries 
 
 
 
 
Wounded in Action                                River Aisne         Service 

Records 
 
 
 
Medically Evacuated to the UK             Field Hospital     Service 

Records

Hospitalised in 2nd General Southern 
Hospital 

Bristol                 Cheltenham 
Echo
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9th Feb. 
1917 
15th

 

June 
1917 

 

Appointed unpaid Lance Corporal 
 
Granted Roll of Rank 

 

Gloucester 
 

Gloucester 

 

Service 
Records 
Service 
Records 

14th Aug Embarked for the Front Southampton Service 
1917   Records 
 
Date 

Event  Location  Reference 

17th Aug Posted to the 13th Gloucester’s Western Front Service 
1917 
18th Aug 

 
Battle of Langemarch 

 
Western Front 

Records 
War Diaries 

1917 
7th Sept 

 

Posted to the 8th Battalion 
 

Western Front 
 
Service 

1917 Gloucester’s  Records 
20th

 Third Battle of the Ypres Passchendaele Various 
Sept. – (Passchendaele)  Records 
10th

    

Nov. 
1917 
20th – 
25th

 

1. Battle of the Menin Road Passchendaele   Various 
Records 

Sept    

26th
 2. Battle of Potygon Wood Passchendaele Various 

Sept – 
3rd Oct 
4th Oct 

 
 
 

3. 

 
 
 
Battle of Broodsceinde 

 
 
 

Passchendaele 

Records 
 

Various 
 

9th Oct 
 

4. 
 
Battle of Poelcapelle 

 
Passchendaele 

Records 
Various 

 

12th Oct 
 

5. 
 
The First Battle of 

 
Passchendaele 

Records 
Various 

 

26th Oct 
 

6. 
Passchendaele 
The Second Battle of 

 
Passchendaele 

Records 
Various 

– 10th
  Passchendaele  Records 

Nov     
19th Jan Reported sick with Scabies Field Hospital Service 
1918 
24th Jan 

 
Re-joined Battalion 

 
Western Front 

Records 
Service 

1917 
10th Feb 
– 24th

 

 
Leave to UK 

 
Laleham 

Records 
Service 
Records 

March    

1918    

27th
 The Battle of Aisne Western Front Various 

May – 
6th June 
18th Aug 

 
 
 
The Advance in Flanders Operation 

 
 
 

Western Front 

Records 
 

Various 
– 6th

   Records 
Sept. 
1918
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17th – 
25th Oct 

 

The Battle of the Selle 
 

Western Front 
 

Various 
Records 

1918    

1st – 2nd
 The Battle on Valenciemes Western Front Various 

Nov   Records 
1918    

5th – 7th
 The Passage on the Grand Honelle Western Front Various 

Nov   Records 
1918 
11th Nov 

 
Armistice 

  

1918    

Date 
15th Jan 

Event  
Embarked for the UK 

Location 
France 

Reference 
Service 

1919 
5th Feb 

 
Posted to the Depot 

 
Bristol 

Records 
Service 

1919 
21st Feb 

 
Sent to the Dispersal Centre 

 
Crystal Palace 

Records 
Service 

1919 
21st Mar 

 
Transferred to Class ‘Z’ Army 

 
Warwick 

Records 
Service 

1919 
31st Mar 

Reserve on Demobilisation 
Reserve service ends 

 
Warwick 

Records 
Service 

1920   Records 
 
 

Services  
Abroad  

From  To Years  Days  

India 16th Aug 24th Nov 2 70 
 
France 

1908 
13th Aug 

1910 
21st Sept 

 
0 

 
40 

 
France 

1914 
15th Aug 

1914 
15th Jan 1919 

 
1 

 
155 

 1917    
  Total 3 265 
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9100/9176 George William Schofield Service Records  
 
Here’s an interesting point  –  upon  transferring to  the  ‘Glosters’ George’s Army 
number changed from 9100 to 9176. As I understand it – up to and including at the 
time of The Great War each regiment ran its own numbering system. So, theoretically 
it was possible to have two men with the same number, but in differing regiments. 
Madness. These days a person who joins the military is given a number which stays 
with  them  for  their  entire  military  service  –  changing  only  if  they  receive  a 
commission. 

 
However, this change in his army number lead me up a few dead alleys until I 
realised I need to carry out two searches – One for 9100 Pte Schofield - and another 
for 9167 Drummer Schofield! Anyway I was able to obtain copies of most of George’s 
records. They are not easy to read as were part of the section burned in the fires 
bought on by the bombing of London in the Second World War.
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Courtesy of cousin Michael Courtesy of cousin Michael 
 
 
It is now possible to view these records in greater detail by visiting the family genealogy 
website at….. 
www.djschofield.uk/Grandads_Military_Records.pdf 
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Who were ‘The Old Contemptibles’?  
 

 
The name self-adopted by British troops belonging to the regular army in 1914, the 
term was supposedly derived from a comment made by the German Kaiser, Wilhelm 
II. 

 
The Kaiser, upon hearing that German forces were being held up in France while en 
route to the French capital, is said to have exclaimed his exasperation of "Sir John 
French's contemptible little army" 

 
The Kaiser's comment may have stemmed from anxiety surrounding execution of the 
German Schlieffen Plan designed to knock France out of the war within six weeks of 
its inception, as well as reflecting his opinion of the size of Britain's pre-war regular 
army (which was rather smaller than the major continental armies).  Any delay to the 
German Army's progress was therefore of concern. 

 
Interestingly the term is also said to origin from a mistranslation of a letter from the 
Kaiser to the commander of the German First Army Alexander von Kluck, in which he 
supposedly wrote: "It is my Royal and Imperial command that you concentrate your 
energies for the immediate present upon one single purpose, and that is that you 
address your skill and all the valour of my soldiers to exterminate the treacherous 
English, and walk over French’s contemptibly small army." 

 
Whatever  the  actual  origin  the  British  regulars  were  delighted  thereafter  to  be 
referred to as 'The Old Contemptibles' 

 
 
 

War Diaries of the Gloucestershire Regt covering th e two periods  
George was in action  

 
On these next few pages you will find the War Diaries of the regiments George saw 
action. These diaries are living things, written each day by a young officer. They are 
held in the National Archives and when I visited I was able to touch the actual pages 
– written in pencil by each subaltern. A highly surreal experience. 

 
At the beginning of the war we see entries even showing the death of a horse – but 
as time progresses and casualties mount all we see are number of dead listed. I 
apologise for the shortness on the second set of War Diaries – whose covering 
George’s time after he returned. The diaries were quite detailed - I just ran out of 
time.
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War Diaries of the 1 st Btn Gloucestershire Regt. 

(File Number WO95_1278)  

12th August 1914 to 15 th September 1914  
 
12 August 1914  

 
The 1st  Bt South Wales Borderers also embarked in the Gloucester Castle, which 
sailed at 12:10pm. Sighted land after dark and got into HAVRE docks at midnight. 

 

 
 
13 August 1914 - HAVRE  

 
 
1am began disembarking the men, these assembled in the cargo shed. There was 
great difficulty in unloading the horses because when the bows were in position it 
was found that there were not mats to cover them with, so the horses had all to be 
slung, a very slow business. 

 
The SWB marched off their men about 4am to the No1 Rest Camp near St. ADRESSE. 
As the men were all asleep the Battalion remained in the dock waiting for the transport 
to be unloaded and eventually marched off a 6am for the No1 Rest camp about 5 
miles distant with the cookers, water carts and Maltese cart. 

 
Reminder of transport reached camp about 1pm. 100 bell tents were placed at our 
disposal. There was no labour available at the docks except a very few French Infantry 
reservists. 

 
15th August 1941 - HAORE  

 
6am Paraded and left camp for entrainment at Point 6 in the docks. 

 
8am Reached entrainment point. 4 hours were allowed for entraining, but did it in 
under the hour. Train was of 50 coaches. No latrine provided. 

 
12.39 pm Train left the siding. 

 
5.1 pm Arrived at the Halt sepas near ROUEN where the men were given coffee, and 
water for washing. 

 
6-5 pm  left ROUEN. 1 private transferred to French hospital. The general tone of the 
French is very confident. The Regiment met with great enthusiasm everywhere. 

 
24th August 1914 HAULCHIN  

 
After midnight there was a good deal of rifle fire to our left. 

 
3am  Orders  were  received  to  hold  our  position  at  all  costs  so  we  made  all 
preparations to have ammunition, water and food in the trenches.
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5am Received an order to send the transport to CROIX LEZ ROUVERROY and be 
prepared to retire at short notice as a general retirement of the British force had been 
ordered. Got away at 7:15 am with C Company as a rear guard. B Company got 
detached and retired parallel to the BINCHE-BAVAI road but rejoined the Btn when it 
got to BETTYGNY. 

 
The Btn. had been ordered to retire across country parallel to the BINCHE-BAVAI road 
but as the transport had not been sent ahead it was decided to march via CROIX 
LEZ ROUVEROY where the Queens had taken up and entrenched a defensive 
position. As soon as the rear party had got through the Queens lines a German cavalry 
patrol of 6 men came up within 500 yards of the rear party The Queens opened fire 
and 5 of the patrol were knocked over, one escaping. 

 
The Btn continued its march on BETTIYGNY passing through the 1st Inf. Bde 
entrenching a line facing NE and about half a mile in front of BETTIGNY. 

 
B Company rejoined here: they had returned parallel to the BAVAI road trying to 
keep touch with the 60th  Rifles: they were shelled on the way by the Germans but 
without suffering any casualties. 2 Platoons got separated but rejoined at BETTIGNY. 

 
The 3rd Inf Bde was assembled at BETTIGNY and resumed its march at 5-40pm via 
GOGMIES CHAUSSEE - PEIGNES to NEUF MESNIL where we billeted. 

 
26th August 1914 - LE Gd FAYT  

 
5am  left  billets  with  the  Brigade  and  marched  towards  FAVRIL.  The  Bn  was 
advanced Guard  to  the  Brigade.  On  approaching FAVRIL  two  companies were 
extended in form like formation from RUE DU BOIS - point 173 - CROIX - HAINAUT 
to cover the reconnaissance. The Brigade then occupied a position facing 
LANDRECIS. Gloc. Reg astride the LANDRECIS road. The Queens in reserve at 
FAVRIL. 

 
The Bn entrenched along a line of hedges covering the exits at LANDRECIS and a 
section of the 54th  Battery RFA under Lt. Blewitt took up a position in line with our 
trenches near the centre. C Company was posted east of the road D company and 
MG Section west of the road. A Company in reserve 200 yards up the road and B 
company out to the front as covering party. About noon it was reported that a column 
was moving from E to W by road just north of LANDRECIS. It was doubtful if the 
column was hostile or not owing to the difficulty of observation only the heads and 
shoulders of mounted men could be seen crossing small gaps. About 1 pm a second 
column was seen following the first, Lt Blewitt opened fire and appeared to do good 
practice but with what result could not be ascertained. About 40 dismounted men 
were seen approaching through an orchard and the guns burst two shells over them 
before they disappeared. A German battery then opened fire and did very good 
practice against our trenches. 

 
At this time an aeroplane carrying French colours came swooping down over our 
position only 200-300 feet up. The Germans apparently opened fire on it, but directly 
after the aeroplane passed from left to right along the whole of our position and



22  

immediately after the Germans got exact range of our trenches. It was not long 
before B Company was driven in and retired round the flanks but not before suffering 
some casualties. Captain G.M. Shipway was mortally wounded. No 5132 Pte Lander 
distinguishing himself: although wounded he continued firing and is said to have 
accounted fro 6 Germans before he was bayoneted. During the evening he was 
brought in by a patrol of the 12th Lancers. The trenches were subjected to very little 
rifle fire and by 5pm action had come to an end. 

 
At 4-30 pm the guns withdrew not having suffered a single casualty and at 5 pm we 
began an unmolested withdrawal from both flanks. 

 
The casualties during the action were: - 
Killed 1 man and 1 horse 
Wounded Capt GM Shipway, 29 men and 1 horse 
Captain GM Shipway died in the ambulance the same evening and was buried in 
ETREU cemetery next morning. 

 
The Brigade withdrew to where it billeted for the night. 

 
3rd September 1914 - CREGY  

 
1-30 am-received orders to parade at 2-30 am. The Brigade marched off in the 
following order - Queens - Welsh - Gloc - SWBs. The first division marched via 
VARRIDDES - GEMINGY - ST JEAN on LAFERT(E). 

 
On arriving at St JEAN    a report was circulated that a German column had been 
seen on the high ground across the MARNE to the NE. Therefore arrangements for 
halting were altered and the 3rd Inf Bde marched to PERREUSE CHATEAU were the 
Welch and SWB billeted while the Btn and the Queens bivouacked. The shaft of the 
rear portion of the MG cart and one of the cooker have broken going over rough 
ground. 

 
4th September 1914 - PERREUSE CHATEAU  

 
The Bde. left its bivouac at 4-55 am following the 39th Bde RFA in the following order 
of march; SWB, Queens, Gloc, Welch. Route LA FRINGALE to MOURUX. Shortly 
after starting the Bn lost touch with the Queens and with the Welch were separated 
from the remainder of the Brigade but rejoined them at MOUROUX. There was no 
room for billeting in MOUROUX;  therefore the men bivouacked in orchards so as not 
to be seen from aircraft. 

 
2pm orders were received to send 2 Coys and MG Section to hold the high ground 
about VILLE of BOIS LA VILLE to fill the gap between the 2nd  Division whose right 
was at GIREMOUTIERS and 2nd Inf Bde at AULNOY.  Major J.O.D. Ingram with B, C 
Coys and the MG Sec was sent out. C Coy placed BOISLAVILLE in a state of 
defence while B Coy entrenched on the high ground of VILLE BOIS LA VILLE. The 
enemy's shells were seen bursting in the direction of BOISDE DONNE, otherwise 
nothing was seen of the enemy.
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6pm Orders were received for the 3rd  Inf Bde to move to the high ground S of 
COULUMNIIERS to cover the withdrawal of  the remainder of the (sentence not 
finished). 

 
The Bn Paraded at 6-15 and marched with the Brigade via LES COURROI - LES 
PARICHETS to a point about 500 yards E of EPIEDS and bivouacked. The 26th Bde 
and 2 batteries 43rd (Howitzer) Bde RFA were in position N of the bivouac. 

 

 
 

5th September 1914  
 
4am The Brigade stood to arms. Orders were received to move to ROZOY. B&C 
Coys and MG Section rejoined before the Brigade marched off at 6-15am. It halted 
between RIGNY and ORMEAU where the Welsh put out outposts facing NE On 
resuming their march the Bn marched to RLESSIS across county while the transport 
went by the road and after halt an hours delay marched on with the remainder of the 
brigade to ROZOY and bivouacked E of the village. D Coy furnished the outposts 
across the road from VOINSLES and RAPERIE connecting with the Queens on the 
right, the 1st Bde on the left. 

 
6pm Capt A.A. McLead and 93 of the first re-enforcements joined and were posted to 
companies. The Bn is 1 Capt. 1 Subaltern &33 R&F (rank and file) under War 
Establishments. Orders were received at midnight to continue the movement towards 
GUIGNES, but these were cancelled in the early morning. 

 
6th September 1914 - ROZOY  

 
Previous orders for a retirement were cancelled and orders were received to the 
effect that as the French Army was going to assume the offensive the Expeditionary 
Force would assume the offensive and co-operate. The 3rd  Inf Bde and attached 
troops marched off at 7-40 am preceded by an advanced guard via COURPALAY on 
LA CHAPELLEIGER. The outposts were to remain in position until the arrival of the 
1st Guards Brigade. 

 
Between 10am and 11 am a certain amount of artillery fire took place to the NE 
apparently the artillery of the 1st Guards Brigade was engaged. 

 
The march was continually interrupted by long halts up to 8am when we went into 
bivouac NE of VANDOY with the remainder of the brigade, the Queens furnishing the 
outposts. 

 
7th September 1914  

 
12-30pm The brigade marched out of bivouac via DAGNY – CHEVRU (@) SWB 
were detailed as flank guard, the Brigade being on the right flank of the Expeditionary 
force was reported to be on our right (@) Here another column was occupying the 
main road to CHOISY therefore the Brigade marched by the LEUDON road & cart 
tracks to just E of CHOISY where we bivouacked at 9pm. 

 
8th September 1915 - CHOISY
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The Brigade marched out of its bivouac at 5-30 am in the following order; Welch, 1st 

Bat 39 Bdg RFA, Gloc, Queens, SWB, 39 Bdg RFA, brigaded Cookers & Water carts, 
brigaded SAA reserve (2 carts per Bn) 3rd Field Ambulance. Marched via CAFERTE - 
GAUCHER, LE JARIEL - SABLONNIERS - HONDEVILLIERS- FREME DE LILLE 
where the Brigade bivouacked. A great deal of the marching was across country and 
by field paths. We got into the bivouac just before dark. At 8am Lieut. Capel and 90 
reservists joined. 

 

 
 

9th September 1914 - FERME DE LILLE  
 
About 12 midnight a post of A Company who were on the outpost fired some shots. It 
turned out to be 1 German officer and 9 men of the Garde Jagaers who had been cut 
off during the afternoon. They surrendered. 

 
11th September 1914 - SOMMELANS  

 
The Brigade group left its billets at 5 am and marched 2nd  in the division. The Bn 
marched 2nd in the Brigade via LATILLY - GRISSOLES - COINCY - to VILLENEUVE 
SUR FERE, where the Bn bivouacked but the weather became very wet we moved 
into billets except A Coy for whom there was no room. 

 
12th September 1941 - VILLENEUVE SUR FERE  

 
The Brigade group formed the advance guard of the Division. The 2nd Welsh were in 
the Vanguard and the Bn headed the Mainguard. Left billets at 5am and marched via 
FERE ENTARDENOIS - LOUPEIGNE - BAZOCHES. On nearing this village the 
Germans were reported to be on the high ground near PERLES. 

 
At 1pm the Welch were sent forward to reconnoitre and the battalion was ordered to 
deploy and advance by the south in PAARS to where the word VAUXCERE is written 
in the map. A&B were deployed in the 1st line with C&D in support. No trace of the 
Germans was found and A&B Coys were left on outposts west of Point 157 while two 
Coys of the Welsh were east of the same point. The remainder of the Bn Billeted in 
VAUXCERE mostly in caves. 

 
The weather was very bad it rained most of the day and the greater parts of the night. 
The road was bad & in some places much broken up. We were in close touch with 
the French on our right all day. Passes on of their trains of motor-busses in the 
village of MONT NOTRE DAME. 

 
14TH September 1914 - BOURG  

 
The Bde left its billets at 7-30 am to march on ATHIE; the first objective being the 
CERNY ENLAONNOIS - COUTECON ridge. Very slow progress was made up to the 
N of MOULINS when the Queens were sent to occupy the PAISSY ridge while the 
remainder  of  the  Brigade  was  hurried  forward  through  VI(?)ANDRESSE  to  the 
TRYON spur to come up to the left of the 1st Guards Brigade.
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The Welsh and SWBs were sent forward while the Bn was kept in Brigade Reserve 
under the shelter of the SW end of the ridge. There was a good deal of gun fire but 
the Bn was well sheltered. D Coy was sent up to the right front to watch the R Flank 
of the brigade in a wood and connect with the 1st Guards Brigade. 

 
The Bn had not all come up when a German counter attack threatened the left flank 
A&B Coys were ordered to follow a company of the Welsh to repulse it, but the counter 
attack was repulsed by the artillery. 

 
At noon the 1st  Guards Bde found itself in difficulties and B&C Coys were detailed 
under Major JOD Ingram to reinforce it. They got into a quarry and a few platoons 
were pushed forward but theses were shelled and as there was no hostile infantry 
movement in front they were withdrawn into the quarry after some loss. 

 
D Coy was then placed at the disposal of General Mayse and was retained by him as 
Brigade reserve. 

 
6pm the situation allowed our companies being withdrawn from the 1st brigade. D coy 
was ordered to VANDRESSE as Divisional reserve and General London sent A Coy 
also to join the divisional reserve at VANDRESSE They were both placed under the 
command of Major Ingram. 

 
At dusk the Brigade was ordered to move forward to the line of the CHEMIN DES 
DAMES. B&C Coys led by the general who was escorted by one platoon of the 
Welsh advanced through CHIVY. On arrival near the road junction the column was 
suddenly fired upon from the right front. The fire was retuned and after a little it died 
down on both sides. 

 
As the General and his staff were missing it was decided to fall back to where the 
Welsh were in position at the head of the valley immediately W of T in IROYN. The 
General with his staff (Capt Dyer) then came in front the front where he had been 
caught between two fires and approved of the position taken. The two companies of 
the SWBs which were at the head of the valley entrenched themselves during the 
night. 

 
C Company remained in support B Coy sent out two platoons in observation one on 
each flank of the SWBs. A&D Coys were kept by the General at CHIVY as a reserve. 

 
15th September 1914  

 
The Germans made an attempt at advancing but were foiled. Four of our men posted 
at the corner of the wood did good work as marksmen. All round us are laying a large 
number of  dead and wounded of  the 1st  Guards Brigade, they suffered heavily 
yesterday. The trenches dug by the SWBs during the night proved to be useless so 
they had to dig some more farther to the front. 

 
B Coy was sent to the spur at the T in LE BLANC MONT to connect with the Welsh 
who are on our extreme left. The Welsh were attached and slightly driven back so a 
company of the SWBs was sent to fill the small gap between B Coy and the Welch to
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support them. During the day the position was heavily shelled and the battalion 
suffered a good many casualties. 

 
During the two days there were the following casualties: - 
2Lt R.K Swanwick - Killed 
Lt D Duncan slightly wounded in the left upper arm by the splinter of a shell 
2Lt Hon RF Somer grazed on the head by the splinter of a shell 
10 killed 70 wounded 3 missing 

 
D Coy came up and remained the night with HQ 

 
Note – one to these 70 wounded was George.  

 
Extracts from the War Diaries of the 8 th Btn Gloucestershire  
Regiment 1917 – 1918  

 

 

(File Number WO95_2085)  
 

 
 

13th September 1917 Klien Zillebeke 160 killed or wounded 
 
27th 30th September 1917 in the Line 

 
1st October 1917 Shewsbury Forest 

 
2nd – 5th October 1917 Hill 60 

 
11th – 14th October 1917 Line – Belgian Wood – Hessian Wood – Canal 

 
17th – 19th October 1917 Hessian Wood 

 
4th – 7th November 1917 Spoil Bank – Gasper Cliff 

 
8th – 9th November 1917 Hessian Wood 

 
9th – 17th December 1917 Ribcourt 

 
20th December 1917 Valley Support 

 
23rd – 24th December 1917 Kaizer Trench 

 
25th – 31st December 1917 Fork Avenue 

 
1st - 5th January 1918 In Line 

 
10th – 23rd January 1918 Hinenburg Line 

 
26th –28th January 1918 In Line 

 
2nd – 6th February 1918 In Line
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(22nd – 24th March 1918 Doignies) 
 
1st - 14th April 1918 Messins 

 
18th April 1918 – withdraw to WIPPENHOEK 2 miles east of ABEELE 

 
24th April 1918 Proven area in PLDGEON Camp 

 
25th April 1918 – working on defences in Poperinghe 

 
4th May 1918 In line @ DICKEBUSH 

 
28th – 31st May 1918 moved to CHALW – EPERNAY arrived at CHAMBRECY moved 
straight In Line 

 
9th June 1918 moved to reserve Btn. At BOIS-COURTON 

 
6th August 1918 Gosnay 

 
16th – 21st August 1918 in line CHORQUES? Willot lane ? 

 
2nd  September 1918 

 
19th – 29th September 1918 LOCON Front line 

 
20th October 1918 AAUSSY 

 
23RD October 1918 CAPELLE- St MARTIN ROAD – BERMERAIN – ECAILION * 
officers 128 OR Killed/wounded 

 
9th November 1918 - TAISNIERES 
 
 
You can now read the actual hand written daily account if you download the War Diary 
of the 8th Btn found at the family’s genealogy website www.djschofield.uk/WO-95-
2085-1_2.pdf and go directly to page 31 which will be the start of George’s time with 
the 8th Btn.
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George William Schofield’s battles  
 
On these next pages you will find a potted history of all the battles George Schofield 
participated. Each source is  referenced and I  hope I  have left each link intact. 
However there are many, many sources of information, both on the internet and in 
written form for you to learn more about the pain and suffering George Schofield and 
his fellow solders endured during ‘The Great War’ 

 
 

The Battle of Mons, 1914  
 
 
The Mons battle signified the first engagement between British and German forces 
on the Western Front, and began on 23 August 1914. The Battle of Mons comprises 
one of the so-called Battles of the Frontier that took place during August 1914, at 
Mulhouse, Lorraine, the Ardennes, Charleroi - and  Mons. 

 
Having arrived in France on 14 August, and well behind schedule in its advance, the 
British Expeditionary Force (BEF) under its Commander-in-Chief, Sir John French, 
was moving forward cautiously from the Belgian coast, in keeping with French's 
character, his plan being to meet up with French General Lanrezac's Fifth Army near 
Charleroi on the Sambre. 

 
Before reaching Charleroi however, the BEF encountered cavalry patrols from the 
German First Army at Soignies on 22 August.  French immediately made plans to 
attack the German forces, against intelligence advice and apparently unaware of its 
full strength and of its victories at Lorraine and the Ardennes. 
 
Changing tack overnight, French ordered his five divisions to establish defensive 
positions at the nearby Mons Canal.  French's surprise at meeting the German First 
Army was equalled by its commander, General von Kluck, who had just seen action 
at the Battle of the Sambre against General Lanrezac's and was intent on chasing 
Lanrezac to the south. 

 
Distracted, von Kluck determined to launch a frontal attack against the BEF on 23 
August, having been forbidden by the German High Command from outflanking the 
BEF and possibly losing contact with von Bulow's Second Army. 
The British Commander-in-Chief ought not to have been too surprised at the sudden 
appearance and  strength of  the  German  army.   As  early as  7  August  General 
Lanrezac,  commanding  the  French  Fifth  Army,  had  warned  Joffre,  the  French 
Commander-in-Chief, of a sizeable build-up of German strength into Belgium. 

 
Joffre initially appeared not to heed Lanrezac's warnings, perhaps because they 
conflicted  with  France's  pre-war battle  strategy,  Plan  XVII,  which  assumed  that 
Germany would not attack France via Belgium. 

 
Meanwhile French, who because the initial British-German contact had come via 
cavalry  troops  had  effectively  bought  himself  a   day's  respite  before  battle 
commenced, deployed his two infantry corps, commanded by Smith-Dorrien and 
Haig, respectively, east and west of Mons across a forty kilometre front.
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The eastern wing almost reached the retreating French Fifth Army under General 
Lanrezac, some eight miles away.  Edmund Allenby's cavalry division was held in 
reserve in case of need. 

 
At the start of the battle the British found themselves heavily outnumbered by their 
German opposition: 70,000 troops as opposed to 160,000, and 300 guns against 600 
German. 

 
Despite such odds, von Kluck's offensive against General Smith-Dorrien following a 
preliminary artillery barrage, began disastrously, the British riflemen exacting heavy 
losses from the advancing German infantry. 

 
Indeed, by mid-afternoon he had no progress to show for the offensive. Nevertheless 
over the course of the first few days of fighting the British had suffered some 1,600 
casualties.  The efficiency of the British riflemen was such that von Kluck assumed 
that the enemy were using machine-guns. 

 
Whilst von Kluck paused the attack in order to draft in reserves, French, having heard 
news that General Lanrezac had retreated and could therefore offer the British no 
assistance, ordered a strategic retreat to the British second line of defence. 

 
Von Kluck renewed the offensive in the evening, by which time French had realised 
quite how strong von Kluck's forces were.  French therefore ordered Smith-Dorrien and 
Haig to further retreat; von Kluck did not at first give chase, choosing instead to 
address the heavy casualties inflicted earlier in the day. 

 
Ultimately however he inflicted almost 8,000 casualties upon the British rear-guard at 
the Battle of Le Cateau on 26 August. 

 
The British Commander-in-Chief then undertook an extended retreat.  French himself 
recommended complete withdrawal to the coast, although Kitchener, the British war 
minister, rejected French's suggestion, requiring the BEF to remain in contact with 
the French forces retreating to the Marne. 

 
 
http://www.firstworldwar.com/battles/mons.htm
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Battle of the Marne: 6-10 September 1914  
 
The First Battle of the Marne marked the end of the German sweep into France and 
the beginning of the trench warfare that was to characterise World War One. 

 
Germany's grand Schlieffen Plan to conquer France entailed a wheeling movement 
of the northern wing of its armies through central Belgium to enter France near Lille. 
It would turn west near the English Channel and then south to cut off the French 
retreat. If the plan succeeded, Germany's armies would simultaneously encircle the 
French Army from the north and capture Paris. 

 
A French offensive in Lorraine prompted German counter-attacks that threw the 
French back onto a fortified barrier. Their defence strengthened, they could send 
troops to reinforce their left flank - a redistribution of strength that would prove vital in 
the Battle of the Marne. The German northern wing was weakened further by the 
removal of 11 divisions to fight in Belgium and East Prussia. The German 1st Army, 
under Kluck, then swung north of Paris, rather than south west, as intended. This 
required them to pass into the valley of the River Marne across the Paris defences, 
exposing them to a flank attack and a possible counter-envelopment. 

 
On 3 September, Joffre ordered a halt to the French retreat and three days later his 
reinforced left flank began a general offensive. Kluck was forced to halt his advance 
prematurely in order to support his flank: he was still no further up the Marne Valley 
than Meaux. 

 
On  9 September Bülow learned that the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) was 
advancing into the gap between his 2nd Army and Kluck. He ordered a retreat, obliging 
Kluck to do the same. The counterattack of the French 5th and 6th Armies and the 
BEF developed into the First Battle of the Marne, a general counter-attack by the 
French Army. By 11 September the Germans were in full retreat. 

 
This remarkable change in fortunes was caused partially by the exhaustion of many 
of the German forces: some had marched more than 240km (150 miles), fighting 
frequently. The German advance was also hampered by demolished bridges and 
railways, constricting their supply lines, and they had underestimated the resilience of 
the French. 

 
The Germans withdrew northward from the Marne and made a firm defensive stand 
along the Lower Aisne River. Here the benefits of defence over attack became clear 
as the Germans repelled successive Allied attacks from the shelter of trenches: the 
First Battle of the Aisne marked the real beginning of trench warfare on the Western 
Front. 

 
In saving Paris from capture by pushing the Germans back some 72km (45 miles), 
the First Battle of the Marne was a great strategic victory, as it enabled the French to 
continue the war. However, the Germans succeeded in capturing a large part of the 
industrial north east of France, a serious blow. Furthermore, the rest of 1914 bred the 
geographic and tactical deadlock that would take another three years and countless 
lives to break. 
http://www.bbc.co.uk/history/worldwars/wwone/battle_marne.shtml
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The First Battle of the Aisne  
 
 
 
The First Battle of the Aisne was a follow-up offensive by the Allied forces against the 
right wing of the German First and Second armies (under  von Kluck and  von Bulow) 
in retreat after September 1914's  First Battle of the Marne.  The offensive began on 
the evening of 12 September in the aftermath of a rather belated pursuit of the 
Germans. 

 
It has been argued that the Allies would have made far greater gains had their success 
at the Marne been promptly exploited in a rapid and continued attack upon the 
retreating German First and Second armies.  As it was, the progress of the Allied 
forces, British and French, was slow, owing to fatigue and to caution.  Nevertheless 
the Allies realised on 11 September that the Germans intended to halt their retreat at 
the Aisne. 

 
Consequently the two German armies, joined by the new Seventh Army (under  von 
Heeringen), were able to entrench themselves along the north bank of the River Aisne.  
The Chemin des Dames Ridge provided a long and admirable defensive position from 
which to conduct their defence. 

 
The French Fifth and Sixth Armies (under d'Esperey and Maunoury), aided by the 
British Expeditionary Force (BEF, under  Sir John French), launched a frontal infantry 
assault upon the Germans' defensive positions across the river at the Aisne upon 
their arrival on 13 September. 

 
Having established a bridgehead north of the river on 14 September, the Allies 
continued to assault the Germans on the plateau above them; German counter- 
attacks were in place within hours however, forcing the Allies back. 

 
Once again the German forces demonstrated the present superiority of defensive 
warfare over its offensive counterpart, deploying  machine gun fire and heavy artillery 
in the defence of their positions.  Small advances were achieved by the Allies, but 
these could not be consolidated. 

 
Already scaled back by the Allies on 18 September, fighting was abandoned on 28 
September once it finally became clear that neither side, in particular the Allies, 
would be able to mount frontal attacks upon the well-entrenched positions of the 
enemy.  Additionally, the French were finding themselves under increased pressure 
at Reims. 

 
Instead, both forces attempted to manoeuvre past the other in a northwards 
movement, in the so-called 'race to the sea', begun by French Commander-in-Chief 
Joseph Joffre, moving his forces north-west so as to attack the exposed German 
right flank at Noyon (the  First Battle of Albert). 

 
 
 
http://www.firstworldwar.com/battles/aisne1.htm



32  

Battle of Passchendaele  
 
The 1917 Battle of Passchendaele , also known as the Third Battle of Ypres or 
simply Third Ypres , was one of the major battles of World War I. In this battle, 
British, ANZAC, Canadian and South African units engaged the Imperial German 
Army. The battle was fought for control of the village of Passchendaele (Passendale 
in modern Flemish, now part of the community of Zonnebeke) near the town of  Ypres 
(Ieper in Flemish) in West Flanders, Belgium. The plan was to drive a hole in the 
German lines, advance to the Belgian coast and capture the German submarine bases 
there. It was intended to create a decisive corridor in a crucial area of the front, and to 
take pressure off the French forces. After the Nivelle Offensive the French Army was 
suffering from extremely low morale, resulting in  mutinies and misconduct on a scale 
that threatened the field-worthiness of entire divisions. 

 
Although the period of the battle saw spells of good weather lasting long enough to 
dry out the land, Passchendaele has become synonymous with the misery of fighting 
in thick mud. Most of the battle took place on largely reclaimed marshland, swampy 
even without rain. The extremely heavy preparatory bombardment by the British tore 
up  the  surface of  the  land, and  heavy rain  from  August onwards produced an 
impassable terrain of deep "liquid mud", in which an unknown number of soldiers 
drowned. Even the newly-developed  tanks bogged down. 

 
The Germans were well-entrenched, with mutually-supporting pillboxes which the 
initial bombardment had not destroyed. After three months of fierce fighting the 
Canadian Corps took Passchendaele on  6 November 1917, ending the battle, but in 
the meantime the  Allied Powers had sustained almost half a million casualties and 
the Germans just over a quarter of a million. Passchendaele was the last gasp of the 
"one more push" philosophy which posited that the stalemate of attritional trench 
warfare could be broken by brute offensive action against fixed positions. Its 
comparative failure and the horrendous conditions in which it was fought damaged 
Field-Marshal Haig's reputation and made it emblematic of the horror of industrialised 
warfare 

 
Tactical overview and preliminary battles  

 
By this stage of the war, the commanders-in-chief — Field-Marshal Douglas Haig 
(British Empire); General Erich Ludendorff (German Empire); and General Philippe 
Pétain (France) — regarded the  Western Front as a single continuous battle which 
had started with the Battle of the Somme in July 1916. Thus, no sooner had hostilities 
ended in one sector than a fresh offensive started in another. The Allied objective 
was to keep Imperial Germany, who were also fighting the war on the  Eastern Front, 
under constant pressure. Since the Somme, tactics and counter-tactics had 
significantly developed on both sides of the line. 

 
The bridge to the north of Ypres had been lost to the Germans in the First Battle of 
Ypres,  creating  an  allied  salient  sticking  out  into  the  German  positions  and 
overlooked by German  artillery on  higher ground. Haig decided to  collapse the 
salient, break through the front and capture the German submarine bases on the 
Belgian coast. A successful action would not only put the submarines out of action,
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but shorten the allied lines and potentially trap a number of German troops behind 
the new lines. Haig gave General  Sir Hubert Gough command of the battle. This is 
widely regarded as a mistake, as Gough had neither the experience nor the 
temperament for the task ahead. 

 
The build up of Allied troops in the sector had alerted the Germans to the possibility 
of an imminent offensive. In response, General Ludendorff sent his strategist, Colonel 
von Lossberg, to the salient as chief of staff of the German Fourth army who were 
holding the line. Lossberg moved the German Army out of the trenches into a strong 
defensive line of  pillboxes, designed to resist even very heavy artillery and to provide 
enfilading fire. 

 
Messines Ridge  

 
In order to take the salient, engineers had been digging under the Messines Ridge 
and planting a series of nineteen enormous explosive mines. This work did not go 
unnoticed, and the German forces dug a series of counter-mines in order to block 
their work. The German efforts were unsuccessful, and the mines were in place by 
early June. In late May the allies started bombarding the German lines, "softening up" 
the defenses. Early in the morning of June 7, at 2:50 AM, the shelling ceased, a 
signal that an infantry assault would begin in moments. The German infantry that had 
been sheltering in bunkers made ready for an attack, while their shift-change moved 
up from the rear to relieve them. 

 
Instead of an assault, the mines were exploded right under the newly occupied 
trenchlines. The mines killed approximately 10,000 German troops.[2] Assaults 
followed shortly thereafter, and were able to capture the trenches with almost no 
opposition.  German  counterattacks  on  the  next  two  nights  were  completely 
ineffectual. The plan was a complete success. 

 
Haig ordered General  Plumer, the Second Army commander, to continue the battle, 
but was persuaded to delay further attacks until preparations could be made and the 
strategic Messines Ridge could be consolidated. The delay was fatal. Had the British 
pressed forward they would have found the Germans in disarray and the battle may 
have succeeded. In waiting to consolidate the British position, Haig allowed the 
Germans to consolidate their position. 

 
July - August 1917  

 
As a second stage of the action, General Sir  Hubert Gough was put in charge of the 
attacks to secure the Gheluvelt Plateau which overlooked Ypres. Many field guns were 
moved into the area and started a four-day bombardment, but the Germans 
recognised the sign of an impending offensive, and moved more troops in to reinforce 
the defences. 

 
In July the Germans used  mustard gas for the first time. It attacked sensitive parts of 
the body, caused blistering, damage to the lungs and inflammation of the eyes, 
causing blindness (sometimes temporary) and great pain.
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One problem in carrying the offensive forward was the  Yser Canal, but this was taken 
on  27 July when the Allies found the German trenches empty. 

 
Battle of Pilckem Ridge  

 
Four days later, the main offensive opened with a major assault at Pilckem ridge, when 
the Allies gained about 2000 yards. The Allies suffered about thirty-two thousand 
casualties — killed, wounded or missing — in this one action. 

 
Battle of Langemarck  

 
16 - 18 August 

 
Ground conditions during the whole Ypres-Passchendaele action were bad because 
the ground was already fought-over and partially flooded. Continuous shelling 
destroyed drainage canals in the area, and unseasonable heavy rain turned the 
whole area into a sea of mud and water-filled shell-craters. The troops walked up to 
the front over paths made of duckboards laid across the mud, often carrying up to 
one hundred pounds (45 kg) of equipment. It was possible for them to slip off the 
path into the craters and drown before they could be rescued. The trees were 
reduced to blunted trunks, the branches and leaves torn away, and the bodies of 
men buried after previous actions were often uncovered by the rain or later shelling. 

 
September 1917  

 
A new strategy known as "bite and hold" was adopted for the actions of September 
and October, after the bad weather in August had contributed to the failures of earlier 
large-scale attacks. The idea was to make small gains which could be held against 
counter-attack. Sir Herbert Plumer replaced Hubert Gough in command of the 
offensive. 

 
Battle of Menin Road  

 
20 -25 September 

 
By now, 1,295 guns were concentrated in the area, approximately one for every five 
yards of attack front. On  20 September at the battle of Menin Road, after a massive 
bombardment, the Allies attacked and managed to hold their objective of about 1,500 
yards gained, despite heavy counter-attacks, suffering twenty-one thousand 
casualties. The Germans by this time had a semi-permanent front line, with very 
deep dugouts and concrete pillboxes, supported by artillery accurately ranged on  no 
man's land. 

 
Battle of Polygon Wood  

 
26 September - 3 October 

 
Further advances at Polygon Wood and Broodseinde on the south-western edge of 
the salient accounted for another two thousand yards and thirty thousand Allied
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casualties. The British line was now overlooked by the Passchendaele ridge, which 
therefore became an important objective. 

 
October - November 1917  

 
Battle of Broodseinde  

 
4 October 

 
Battle of Poelcappelle  

 
An advance on  9 October at  Poelkapelle (Poelcapelle) was a dismal failure for the 
Allies, with minor advances by exhausted troops forced back by counter-attacks. 

 
First Battle of Passchendaele  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Aerial view of Passchendaele village, before and after the battle, demonstrating that 
the entire village and even the roads were pulverised as combatants shelled all trace 
of enemy cover or transportation — urban warfare that effectively de-urbanised the 
terrain. 

 
The First Battle of Passchendaele, on  12 October 1917 began with a further Allied 
attempt to gain ground around Poelkapelle. The heavy rain again made movement 
difficult, and artillery could not be brought closer to the front owing to the mud. The 
Allied troops were fought-out, and morale was suffering. Against the well-prepared 
German defences, the gains were minimal and there were 13,000 Allied casualties. 

 
By this point there had been 100,000 Allied casualties, with only limited gains and no 
strategic breakthrough.
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Second Battle of Passchendaele  
 
26 October - 10 November 

 
Canadian general Sir Arthur William Currie, who led the Canadian Corps in the Second 
Battle of Passchendaele. Currie correctly predicted that the Canadians would incur from 
16,000 to 20,000 casualties if they were to be successful at defeating the Germans. 

 
At this point two divisions of the Canadian Corps were moved into the line to replace 
the badly depleted ANZAC forces. After their successes at  Vimy Ridge and the  Battle 
of Hill 70, the Canadians were considered to be an élite force and were sent into 
action in some of the worst conditions of the war. 

 
Upon  his  arrival,  the  Canadian  Commander-in-Chief  General  Sir  Arthur  Currie 
expressed the view that the cost of the objective would be sixteen thousand casualties. 
While Currie viewed this figure as inordinately high in relation to the value of the 
objective, Haig was used to casualty figures in the hundreds of thousands after years 
of huge allied losses, and he ordered the offensive to proceed. 

 
The Canadians moved into the line during mid-October, and on  26 October 1917, the 
Second Battle of Passchendaele began with twenty thousand men of the Third and 
Fourth Canadian Divisions advancing up the hills of the salient. It cost the Allies twelve 
thousand casualties for a gain of a few hundred yards. 

 
Reinforced with  the  addition of  two  British  divisions, a  second offensive on  30 
October resulted in the capture of the town in heavy rains. For the next five days the 
force held the town in the face of repeated German shelling and counter-attacks, and 
by the time a second group of reinforcements arrived on  6 November, four-fifths of 
two Canadian divisions had been lost. 

 
Their replacements were the First and Second Canadian Divisions. German troops 
still ringed the area, so a limited attack on the 6th by the remaining troops of the Third 
Division allowed the First Division to make major advances and gain strong points 
throughout the area. 

 
One such action on the First Division front was at Hill 52; the  Tenth Battalion, CEF 
were called out of reserve to assist an attack on Hill 52, part of the same low rise 
Passchendaele itself was situated on. The Battalion was not scheduled to attack, but 
the Commanding Officer of the Tenth had wisely prepared his soldiers as if they 
would be making the main assault – a decision that paid dividends when the unit was 
called out of reserve. On 10 November 1917, the Tenth Battalion took the feature 
with light casualties. 

 
A further attack by the Second Division the same day pushed the Germans from the 
slopes to the east of the town. The high ground was now firmly under Allied control.
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Aftermath  
 
Because of the Third Battle of Ypres there were insufficient reserves available to exploit 
the Allied success at the  Battle of Cambrai, the first breakthrough by massed tanks, 
that restored somewhat the shaken confidence of the British government in the final 
victory. The politicians were reluctant however to fully replace the manpower losses, 
for fear the new troops would be sacrificed also. This made the British Army vulnerable 
to a German attack. 

 
The major German offensive of  1918,  Operation Michael, began on  21 March 1918, 
and a supporting operation which became the Battle of the Lys, began on 9 April. 
This regained almost all of the ground taken by the Allies at Passchendaele, with the 
Germans advancing about 6 miles. This meant that every inch of ground (that had 
taken 450,000 casualties and 5 months to take) gained in the offensive was lost to 
the Germans, in a space of about three days, further proving the point of many 
historians that the Ypres salient was "not the most strategically significant area on 
which to wage a major campaign". 

 
These battles, and those British Empire soldiers who gave their lives, are 
commemorated at the  Menin Gate Memorial in Ypres, the  Tyne Cot Cemetery and 
Memorial  to  the  Missing,  the  largest  Commonwealth  War  Graves  Commission 
cemetery in the world with nearly 12,000 graves. 

 
More than any other battle, Passchendaele has come to symbolise the horrific nature 
of  the  great  battles of  the  First World War  and  the  uselessness of  the  tactics 
employed. The Germans lost approximately 260,000 men, while the  British Empire 
forces lost about 300,000, including approximately 36,500 Australians, 3,596 New 
Zealanders and 16,000 Canadians — the latter of which were lost in the intense final 
assault between 26 October and 10 November; 90,000 British, New Zealand and 
Australian bodies were never identified, and 42,000 never recovered. Aerial 
photography showed 1,000,000 shell holes in 1 square mile (2.56 km²). 

 
Quotations  

"I died in Hell 
(they called it Passchendaele); my wound was slight 
and I was hobbling back; and then a shell 
burst slick upon the duckboards; so I fell 
into the bottomless mud, and lost the light" 
  Siegfried Sassoon 

 
The horror of the shell-hole area of Verdun was surpassed. It was no longer life at all. It was 
mere  unspeakable  suffering.  And  through  this  world  of  mud  the  attackers  dragged 
themselves, slowly, but steadily, and in dense masses. Caught in the advanced zone by our 
hail of fire they often collapsed, and the lonely man in the shell-hole breathed again. Then 
the mass came on again. Rifle and machine-gun jammed with the mud. Man fought against 
man, and only too often the mass was successful. 

 
—General Erich Ludendorff
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I stood up and looked over the front of my hole. There was just a dreary waste of mud and 
water, no relic of civilization, only shell holes… And everywhere were bodies, English and 
German, in all stages of decomposition. 

 
—Lieutenant Edwin Campion Vaughan 

 
"Good God! Did we really send our men through that?" The man beside him, who had been 
through the campaign, replied tonelessly, "It's worse further on up!" 

 
—Lt. Gen. Sir Launcelot Kiggell [3], also quoted in (Leon Wolff, In Flanders Fields. The 1917 Campaign) © Leon Wolff, 1958.[4]

 

 
Passchendaele was just a terrible, terrible, terrible, terrible, terrible, terrible place. We used 
to walk along these wooden duckboards — something like ladders laid on the ground. The 
Germans would concentrate on these things. If a man was hit and wounded and fell off he 
could easily drown in the mud and never be seen again. You just did not want [to] go off the 
duckboards. 

 
—Private Richard W. Mercer (911016) 

 
I fell in a trench. There was a fella there. He must have been about our age. He was ripped 
shoulder to waist with shrapnel. I held his hand for the last 60 seconds of his life. He only 
said one word: 'Mother'. I didn't see her, but she was there. No doubt about it. He passed 
from this life into the next, and it felt as if I was in God's presence. I've never got over it. You 
never forget it. Never. 

 
—Harry Patch, last living survivor of Passchendaele, 12/07/2007 

 
Some of the boys buried here are the same age as me, killed on the same day I was fighting. 
Anyone of them could have been me. I didn't know whether I would last longer than 5 
minutes. We were the Poor Bloody Infantry and we were expendable. What a terrible waste. 

 
—Harry Patch 29/7/07[5]

 

 
 
 
8th GLOUCESTERSHIRE REGIMENT going into 1918  

 
On the 1Oth December 1917 the 57th Brigade was in the Ribecourt sector in the 
Flesquieres Salient. It was known that the Germans were preparing a big attack and 
work was done training, and improving defences. On the 15th February 1918 the 
19th Division was relieved by the 63rd (Naval) Division, and moved back to the 
Haplincourt area. The Germans had massed artillery ail along the line and there were 
heavy bombardments with mustard gas. Finally, on 21 M rch the attack came. With 
the collapse of Russia in the east, many German Divisions were transferred to the 
Western Front; 76  German Divisions were launched at  the  18 front  line  British 
Division (with 11 more in reserve). A heavy mist and severe bombardment gave the 
Germans a chance to get onto .the British lines before many realised what was 
happening. 

 
The 57th Brigade was now at Barastre. As the German advance continued, the 19th 
Division was ordered to counter-attack. The 57th Brigade was to attack Doignies at 
7pm. The 8th Glosters advanced under heavy German machine-gun fire, but got to
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Doignies church. 'A' company was surrounded, but an attack by 'D' company got 
them out of the trap. But with casualties mounting, the battalion had to withdraw back 
towards Beaumetz. 

 
At 4am on the 22nd March the 8th Glosters again attacked Doignies, but were again 
driven off. Three times the Germans attacked the positions near Beaumetz, but each 
attack was repulsed. During the 22nd March the 8th Glosters sustained casualties of 
7 officers and 200 men. On the 23rd March, the 57th Brigade was withdrawn to 
Fremicourt as  Divisional Reserve.  But  in  the  confusion of  the  days  events  the 
Glosters were fighting mixed with elements of the 51 st Division in the trenches b 
tween Doignies and Beaumetz. When the 51 st Division was pulled back the Glosters 
had to withdraw. 

 
"Two incidents there were on the 23rd of March of outstanding gallantry.......... The first 
was the withdrawal of the 8th Gloucesters. The battalion was very hard pressed, and 
that it was able to get away at ail was due to the heroism of Capt. M.A. James and 

officers and other ranks of 'A' Company who covered the withdrawal. Ordered to 
'hold on to the last', with the enemy passing through on his right flank, he and his 
gallant little party stood their ground, inflicting heavy losses on the Germans and 
gaining valual5le time for the withdrawal of guns. On the 21 st March he had been 
wounded but continued to fight in  the most gallant manner. As  the bulk of  his 
regiment was falling back, he led 'A' Company forward on his own initiative in a local 
counter-attack, being wounded again. The company maintained its position until the 
last man fell. Capt. James was seen finally manning a machine-gun single-handed, 
having been wounded a third time; he and the remnants of his heroic liUle party were 
then overwhelmed, but not before they had successfully covered the retirement of the 
other companies. Capt. James was taken and later he was awarded the Victoria Cross, 
which he so richly deserved." . -. . . . 

 
The Glosters moved back to positions near Velu Wood. On the 24th March the 57th 
Brigade moved to Bancourt. The German attacks continued thriugh the 25th and 26th 
March. The 57th Brigade was forced back towards Grevillers and then onto Hebuterne. 
By now the 57th Brigade could muster only 600 men. But at 1 pm on the 
26th March, the 4th ANZAC Brigade arrived to relieve the battered Brigades. The 
57th Brigade had suffered the following casualties in those 6 days - 53 officers and 
1,090 other ranks. The 19th Division as a whole had suffered 154 officers and 3,719 
other ranks. 

 
29th March the 19th Division was entrained at Doullens and Candas and sent to the 
Messines sector to relieve the 2nd Australian Division. At 4am on the 9th April the 
Germans launched a heavy bombardment using gas and high explosive shells. At 
7am they launched a heavy attack on the 2nd portuguese Division near Neuve 
Chapelle and broke through them. On the morning of the 1Oth April the 57th Brigade 
was attacked by as many as 11 battalions and 2 'Storm' battalions. (outumbering the 
British by 5 to 1). The positions were being overwhelmed and Royal Engineers a'nd 
Pioneers were put into the trenches to help fight off the attacks. On the 11 th April the 
South African Brigade moved in and the 19th Division was able to pull back. 

 
April 13th to 15th the Division was near Neuve Eglise and the 8th Glosters assisted in 
holding the line during the battle of Bailleul. On the 16th the Germans turned on
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Kemmel. The 8th Glosters were in positions behind the village. Attacks on Kemmel 
Hill and village were driven off, then the French relieved the British defenders (and by 
the 26th both positions were in the hands of the Germans). 

 
The 57th Brigade moved into reserve at Ouderdom. A period in the trenches resulted 
in more casualties, as the Germans shelled positions over the next days. On the 15th 
May the 19th Division entralned for Chalons. The Divison was given drafts of new men, 
not even fully-trained. They moved to the quiet sector in the Tahure area on the 
RheimsVerdun front. On the 27th May the Germans attacked. The 57th Brigade was 
ordered to Chambrecy, and the 8th Glosters took up outposts north of the village. They 
then took up positions near the village of Coemy. ln the early hours of the 30th May 
the attack came. The 57th Brigade was forced back south of Lhery, at one point the 
French fell back without informing the British battalions either side of them. The 
Germans continued to advance with superior numbers and by June 1 st the 57th 
Brigade could muster only 750 men. The situation was critical. A German attack 
between the 2nd Wiltshires and 8th Glosters had resulted in the Glosters being pushed 
back. Captain E. Pope ('B' Coy.) rai lied his compahy and led a counter- attack 
back up a slope and retook their original positions. (He was awarded the D.S.O.) The 
2/22nd French Regiment joined the attack and their commander (Commandant A. de 
Lasbourde) also recieved the DSO). The 19th Division was moved back to positions 
near Bligny village. 

 
On 6th June another large German attack was launched. However, this time the 
attacks were repulsed, inflicting heavy losses on the attackers. However a French 
Division was pushed back and the important position of the Montagne de Blingy was 
captured by the Germans. The position had to be retaken and the 1/4th King's 
Shropshire Light Infantry attacked and stormed the hill pushing the Germans down 
the other side. (the 1/4th Shropshire battalion was awarded the Croix de Guerre.) 

 
On 19th June the 19th Division was relieved by the 8th Italian Division and moved back 
to south of Epernay and then onto Mondiment to rest and refit. On 1 st July they moved 
to the Fauquembergues area. 

 
On 6th August the 19th Division relieved the 3rd Division in front of Locon and 
Hinges. Patrols were sent out to keep touch with the now retreating Germans. The 
Division advanced over the next weeks and fought minor actions. 

 
On 17th October 1918 the 57th Brigade was on the banks of the river Selle, at 
Haussy. The 8th Glosters were in reserve at 81. Aubert. ln the early hours of the 
2Oth, the 57th Brigade, including the 8th Glosters, crossed the Selle in heavy rain. 
The attack was launched at 2am and by 5.30am ail objectives had been taken. On 
the morning of the 22nd, the 8th Glosters occupied Ferme de Dieux. On the 23rd at 
3.20am they attacked Les Fourrieres and took it by 4.30am. By that afternoon they 
had advanced along the S1. Martin road. That night the 19th Division was relieved 
back to Avesnes-Ies-Aubert. 

 
By November 3rd the 57th Brigade was at Montrecourt and Haussy preparing to 
advance again. They were ordered to march to Vendegies and then on to Sepmedes. 
On the 4th they moved to Maresches. At 6am on the 7th November the 57th brigade 
advanced near Houdain. At 6am on the 8th they moved forward to Tasnieres. On the
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11 th November the 57th Brigade was in the Flamengrie area when the War ended. 
 
14th November the 19th Division was moved to the Rieux area, then to Cambrai on 
the 25th. ln December ail miners in the Division were demobilised and in January 
1919 the full demobilisation of the Division was started. 

 
 
http://members.tripod.com/~glosters/8thBn.htm  

 

 
 
 
 
 

Foot note  
 
I hope you have found this delve into George’s military service career both interesting 
and worth preserving for our own curiosity and to assist future generations of our 
family in understanding the horrors of war which George and his fellow soldiers had 
to endure. 

 
If these accounts have moved you the same way they have me, and you want to read 
more about The Great War or military live in general, I suggest you start your journey 
at  http://www.regiments.org where you can find the answers to all your questions. 

 
Be careful though – once you arrive there all time is lost! 

 
I have enjoyed carrying out this research into my Grandfather’s military service, but I 
am only sorry I was unable to finish before Aunty Joan went off to be with him – 
however, as I’ve sent this account of into the ‘ether’ so to speak I’m expecting some 
valuable critique from them both! 

 
David Schofield December 
2007 
 
Updated in October 2017 
  


